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Patricia Ray (Pa Bar No 31989) 

RAYCHAN I.P. LAW FIRM 

5 Old Mill Road Freeport PA 16229 

Telephone: (215) 908-6810 

Email: raypatricia@yahoo.com  

    

Attorney for Plaintiff 

NINGBO BONNY E-HOME CO., LTD. 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 

 

NINGBO BONNY E-HOME CO., LTD., a 

corporation of China  

 

 

                                Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

ONDWAY, POOLCLEAN US STORE, USA 

WAREHOUSE, BOWANJIE, INPOOL US 

STORE, DEWFOND, DIGIGER, 

MOTOBUDDY STORE, and et al. 

Individual, Partnerships 

 

                               Defendant. 

Case No.  
 
(1) COMPLAINT FOR 

      PATENT INFRINGEMENT  

      [35 U.S.C. § 271 et seq.] 

 

 

(2) DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For its Complaint against Defendant ONDWAY, POOLCLEAN US STORE, USA WAREHOUSE, 

BOWANJIE, INPOOL US STORE, DEWFOND, DIGIGER, MOTOBUDDY STORE (collectively 

“Defendants”), Plaintiff NINGBO BONNY E-HOME CO., LTD. (“Plaintiff”) states the following:  
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I.  

THE PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff is a corporation organized and registered in China having a principal place of 

business at 5th Floor, Chuangdai Incubation, No. 199, Hexiao East Road, Dongqiao Town, Haishu 

District, Ningbo, Zhejiang, 315000, China.  

2. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereupon alleges, that each Defendant is a 

foreign based companies that has copied Plaintiff’s proprietary patent-protected and sells those 

products online in marketplaces such as Amazon.com and eBay.com without regard for the intellectual 

property rights of others, and who may be characterized as infringers and counterfeiters because of 

their disregard for the owner’s rights and/or for the damage they cause to legitimate businesses.  

Sometimes the one Defendants conduct their legitimate business in concert or connection with other 

Defendants.  

3. Upon information and belief, each Defendant respectively has substantial contacts and 

transacts substantial business, either directly or through agents, on an ongoing basis in this judicial 

district and elsewhere in the United States.  

4. All allegations in this Complaint referencing Defendants shall be deemed to mean acts 

of Defendants acting individually, jointly, severally, or any combination of them. 

5. Unless specifically stated otherwise, the acts complained of herein were committed by, 

on behalf of, and/or for the benefit of Defendants. 

II. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION  

6. This is an action for patent infringement.  

7. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereupon alleges, that each Defendant has been 
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infringing, contributing to the infringement of, and/or actively inducing others to infringe claim of 

U.S. Patent No. D985,947S (“the ’947 Patent”). 

8. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereupon alleges, that Defendants have been 

and are infringing, contributing to the infringement of, and/or actively inducing others to commit 

violations of Unfair Competition and Deceptive Trade Practice in violation of Pennsylvania Business 

and Professions Code Section 17299. 

9. Plaintiff has determined, using applicable legal measures of evaluation and 

comparison, that each Defendant has engaged in infringement of the ‘947 Patent. In particular, 

Plaintiff has compared the accused infringing products according to the perspective of the eye of an 

ordinary observer, giving such attention as a purchaser usually gives, to such matters.  

 

III. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

10. This action arises under the patent laws of the United States, 35 U.S.C. § 271 et seq., 

and the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (as a federal question), and §1338(a) (patent question) and 28 U.S.C. 

§1367.  

11. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they conduct substantial 

business in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania in this judicial district and have been infringing, 

contributing to the infringement of, and/or actively inducing others to infringe the ’947 Patent in this 

District and elsewhere.  This Court may exercise personal jurisdiction over a non-resident of the state 

where the court sits as and to the extent authorized by state law. Fed R. Civ. Pro. 4e.  Pennsylvania 

authorized personal jurisdiction over each Defendant pursuant to 42 Pa. Const. Statures Section 
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5322(a) which provides: “A tribunal of this Commonwealth may exercise personal jurisdiction over a 

person…who acts…as to a cause of action…(1) Transacting any business in this Commonwealth.”  In 

the alternative, Fed R. Civ. Pro Rule 4(k)confers personal jurisdiction over the Defendant because, on 

information and belief they regularly conduct, transact and/or solicit business in Pennsylvania and in 

this judicial district and/or derive substantial revenue from their business transactions in Pennsylvania 

and in this judicial district and or otherwise avail themselves of the privileges and protections of the 

laws of Pennsylvania such that this Courts assertion of jurisdiction over Defendant does not offend 

traditional notions of fair play and due process and/or Defendant infringing actions in Pennsylvania 

caused injury to Plaintiff in Pennsylvania and this judicial district such that Defendant should 

reasonably contemplate such actions to have consequences in Pennsylvania and this judicial district, 

for example: 

(a) On information and belief, Defendants have directed or targeted infringing activities 

toward consumers in the United States, including Pennsylvania through their online 

platforms and websites, including Amazon.com and eBay.com under seller IDs held 

by or associated with Defendants.  These marketplace websites are also may be known 

under name such as “User Accounts”.  Through these websites, consumers in the 

United States, including Pennsylvania, can view the marketplace websites through 

which Defendants offer infringing products online and through which consumers can 

place orders for delivery of infringing products and Defendants can transact the illegal 

business. 

(b)   Defendants accept payment for infringing products in U.S. dollars and offer delivery 

of the illegal sales in the United States, including Pennsylvania. 

(c) Defendants are currently and continuously targeting their illegal sales of infringing 
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products toward consumers and causing harm in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania. 

(d)    Defendants are causing an illegal stream of infringing products to enter the United 

States, including this judicial district. 

(e) Plaintiff is suffering irreparable harm and substantial damages due to Defendants’ 

wrongful advertising and sale of infringing goods in this judicial district. 

12. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 (a) (b) and (c) and /or 1400 

(b) because 

(a) a substantial part of the events giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred in 

the Western District of Pennsylvania and because Defendants are subject 

to personal jurisdiction in the Western District of Pennsylvania, 

(b) Defendants are known to transact business in this judicial district, and 

(c) Defendants not resident in the United States may be sued in this judicial 

district because personal jurisdiction is proper in this district. 

 

FACUAL BACKGROUND 

(U.S. Design Patent No. D985,947S) 

13. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 – 12 of its Complaint.  

14. On May 16, 2023, the ’947 Patent titled “POOL BRUSH HEAD” was duly and legally 

issued to Ningbo Dongchuan Swimming Pool Equipment Co., Ltd.. The ’947 Patent has remained in 

force since that time and continues to be in force. A true and correct copy of the ’947 Patent is 

attached as Exhibit “1” and incorporated herein by reference. 

15. The ’947 Patent is the result of substantial research into a unique design and 

commitment of innovative efforts and resources by the inventors Huaizhong He and Hu Zhang. 
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16. At all relevant times, the rights in the ‘947 Patent have been owned by Assignee 

Ningbo Bonny E-Home Co., Ltd., who is also the Plaintiff. 

17. The ‘947 Patent covers an ornamental design for a pool brush. Plaintiff has been 

commercially and successfully with its distinctive pool brush design providing differentiation to other 

competitors’ pool brush designs. 

18. As a result of Plaintiff’s substantial advertising and promotional efforts, as well as the 

high quality of the pool brush products associated with the design of the ‘947 Patent, such distinctive 

pool brush design has earned valuable and residual goodwill and reputation for Plaintiff being the sole 

source for such pool brush goods in the United States.  

19. Plaintiff is informed and believes that the Defendants as listed in Schedule A each 

owns, operates or otherwise controls an online store on Amazon.com (“Amazon”), eBay.com or 

Walmart.com where it advertises and sells its products using the brand name listed on Schedule A. 

20. Plaintiff is informed and believes that Defendants may offer and provide products 

between each other which products infringe the ‘947 Patent to the market under various names.  

21. Defendants sell the products under the ordinary observer test. Under this test, an 

accused design infringes upon a patented design if, in the eye of an ordinary observer, giving such 

attention as a purchaser usually gives, two designs are substantially the same in that the resemblance is 

such as to deceive such an observer, inducing him to purchase one supposing it to be the other.  

22. A side-by-side comparison of the ‘947 Patent and the infringing products that are sold 

by Defendants are shown below in the Claim Charts accompanying this Complaint as Exhibit “2”, 

Exhibit “3”, Exhibit “4”, Exhibit “5”, Exhibit “6”, Exhibit “7”, Exhibit “8”, and Exhibit “9” 

respectively. 

23. Plaintiff has not granted a license or any other authorization to Defendants to make 
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use, offer for sale, sell or import pool brushes that embody the design patented in the ‘947 Patent and 

which are proprietary to Plaintiff.  

24. On or about August, 2023, Plaintiff through counsel communicated a request to cease-

and-desist, informing each of the Defendants, about the infringement and asking them to stop.  Despite 

the information and the request to cease-and-desist, Defendants continue to sell, offer to sell and/or 

promote the infringing products on online platforms at least on the Amazon.com marketplace. 

25.  No Defendants have responded to the cease-and-desist request or acknowledged the 

receipt of the infringement warning by Plaintiff.  None of the Defendants have ceased selling the 

infringing products on-line, or have discouraged consumers from purchasing infringing products, 

despite knowing of Plaintiff’s rights.   

26. Thus, Defendants have not discouraged consumers from purchasing infringing 

products, despite knowing of Plaintiff’s rights. 

27. Defendants have been willfully and knowingly infringing Plaintiff’s rights, as to the 

‘947 Patent, causing Plaintiff to suffer from substantial losses and damages. 

28. Plaintiff  believes that Defendants’ wrongful conduct and infringing and damaging 

activities will continue unless enjoined by this Court.  

 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Infringement of U.S. Design Patent No. D985,947S 

Under 35 U.S.C. § 271 et seq.) 

29. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and reallege paragraphs 1 through 28 above as 

though fully restated here. 

30. Plaintiff provided actual notice to Defendants of their infringement on repeated 
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occasions at least as early as August, 2023, including informing Defendant of the infringement and 

asking that Defendants cease and desist and also through the filing of this complaint.  

31.  Defendants have engaged in a pattern of conduct demonstrating: Defendants’ 

awareness of the ‘947 Patent; the objectively high likelihood that Defendants’ actions constitute 

infringement of the ‘947 Patent and that the ‘947 Patent is valid and enforceable; and that this 

objectively-defined risk was so obvious that Defendants knew or should have known it.  

32. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereupon alleges, that Defendants have 

infringed and continue to infringe the ‘947 Patent by, inter alia, making, using, offering to sell, or 

selling in the United States, including in the State of Pennsylvania and within this judicial district, 

products infringing the ornamental design covered by the ‘947 Patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, 

including but not limited to the infringing products. 

33. Defendants infringe the ‘947 Patent because, inter alia, in the eye of an ordinary 

observer, giving such attention as a purchaser usually gives, the design of the ‘947 Patent and the pool 

brush design of Defendants’ products including are substantially the same, the resemblance being such 

as to deceive such an ordinary observer, inducing him to purchase one supposing it to be the other.  

34. Defendants’ acts of infringement of the ‘947 Patent were undertaken without 

authority, permission or license from Plaintiff. As such, Defendant’ infringing activities violate 35 

U.S.C. § 271. 

35. Defendants’ infringement has damaged and continues to damage the injure Plaintiff. 

The injury to Plaintiff is irreparable and will continue unless and until Defendant are enjoined from 

further infringement.  

36. Plaintiff is entitled to a complete accounting of all relevant and profits derived by 

Defendants from the unlawful conduct alleged herein, including without limitation, Defendants’ total 
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profit pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 289. 

37. Defendants have engaged and are engaged in willful and deliberate infringement of the 

‘947 Patent. Such willful and deliberate infringement justifies an increase of three times the damages 

to be assessed pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284 and further qualifies this action as an exceptional case 

supporting an award of reasonable attorney’s fees pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 285.  

38. Plaintiff is entitled to a permanent injunction preventing Defendant from further 

infringing the ‘947 Patent.  

 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff asks this Court to enter judgment in its favor against Defendants and 

grant the following relief: 

A. An adjudication that Defendants have infringed and continue to infringe, directly and 

indirectly through contributory and/or induced infringement, the ‘947 Patent as alleged above. 

B. An accounting of all damages sustained by Plaintiff as a result of Defendants’ acts of 

infringement of the ‘947 Patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 283. 

C. An award to Plaintiff of actual damages adequate to compensate Plaintiff for 

Defendants’ acts of infringement, together with pre-judgment and post-judgment interest.  

D. An award to Plaintiff of enhanced damages, up to and including the trebling of Plaintiff’s 

damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284 for Defendants’ willful infringement of the ‘947 Patent. 

E. An award for Plaintiff’s cost of suit and reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to 35 U.S.C. 

§ 285 due to the exceptional nature of this case; or as otherwise permitted by law. 

F. A grant of a temporary restraining order, preliminary and permanent injunction pursuant 

to 35 U.S.C. § 283, enjoining Defendants and their agents, servants employees, principals, officers, 

attorneys, successors, assignees and all those in active concert with Defendants, including related 
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individuals and entities, customers, representatives, OEM’s, dealers and distributors, from further acts 

of (1) infringement, (2) contributory infringement, and (3) active inducement to infringe with respect to 

the claims of the ‘947 Patent, and; 

G. Entry of an Order that, on Plaintiff’s request any financial institutions, payment 

processors, billing agents, banks, escrow services, money transmitters or marketplace platforms and 

their related companies and affiliates, identify and restrain all funds in all financial accounts in 

connection with the Defendant and/or their seller ID’s  or ecommerce names or other identifiers used by 

Defendant now or in the future or any other account used in connection with funds processed from the 

sale of the infringing products, to be used in partial satisfaction of the judgement entered in this case. 

H. Any further relief that this Court deems just and proper. 

 

Dated: May 19, 2024 RAYCHAN I.P. LAW FIRM, PLLC 
 

 /s/ Patricia Ray 
  

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

NINGBO BONNY E-HOME CO., LTD. 
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury trial on all issues triable as of right to a jury.  FED. R. CIV. P. 

38(b).  

 

Dated: May 19, 2024 RAYCHAN I.P. LAW FIRM 
 

 /s/ Patricia Ray 
 Patricia Ray 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

NINGBO BONNY E-HOME CO., LTD. 
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SCHEDULE A 
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EXHIBIT 1 
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PART B (You are to check ONE of the following)  

1. This case is related to Number . Short Caption  . 
2. This case is not related to a pending or terminated case.

DEFINlTIONS OF RELATED CASES:  
CIVIL:  Civil cases are deemed related when a case filed relates to property included in 
another suit or involves the same issues of fact or it grows out of the same transactions 
as another suit or involves the validity or infringement of a patent involved in another 
suit EMINENT DOMAIN:  Cases in contiguous closely located groups and in common ownership 
groups which will lend themselves to consolidation for trial shall be deemed related.  
HABEAS CORPUS & CIVIL RIGHTS:  All habeas corpus petitions filed by the same individual 
shall be deemed related. All pro se Civil Rights actions by the same individual shall be 
deemed related.  

PARTC  
I. CIVIL CATEGORY (Select the applicable category).

1. Antitrust and Securities Act Cases
2. Labor-Management Relations
3. Habeas corpus
4. Civil Rights
5. Patent, Copyright, and Trademark
6. Eminent  Domain
7. All  other federal question cases
8. All  personal  and property damage tort cases,  including  maritime,  FELA,

Jones Act, Motor vehicle, products liability, assault, defamation,  malicious
 prosecution, and false arrest  

 9.      Insurance indemnity, contract and other diversity cases. 
10. Government Collection Cases (shall include HEW Student Loans (Education),

V A  0verpayment, Overpayment of Social Security, Enlistment 
Overpayment (Army, Navy, etc.),  HUD Loans, GAO Loans (Misc. Types), 
Mortgage Foreclosures, SBA Loans, Civil Penalties and Coal Mine 
Penalty and Reclamation Fees.)  

I certify that to the best of my knowledge the entries on this Case Designation 
Sheet are true and correct  

Date:

ATTORNEY AT LAW

NOTE: ALL SECTIONS OF BOTH FORMS MUST BE COMPLETED BEFORE CASE CAN BE PROCESSED.
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Case 2:24-cv-00568-CB   Document 7-1   Filed 05/19/24   Page 1 of 2



AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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